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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
TERRE HAUTE DIVISION

UNDRAY KNIGHTEN,

Plaintiff,
No. 2:18¢v-00245JPHMJD
BYRD,
K. HOBSON,
S. LANTRIP,
F. JEFFERY,
DONALDSON,

Defendants.

N N N N N N N N N N N N N

ENTRY GRANTING MEDICAL DEFENDANTS '
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Plaintiff Undray Knighten brought this civil rights action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. He
alleges that his constitutional rights were violated while imprisoned at WabHleh @arrectional
Facility ("WVCF"). In his Eighth Amendment deliberate indifference claims against Dr. Samuel
Byrd, Nurse Kimberly Hobson, Sergeant S. Lantrip, Correctional Officer F. JedfehSergeant
Donaldsonseedkt. 12! Mr. Knighten alleges that the defendants were deliberately indifferent to
his serious medical need3r. Byrd and Nurse Hobson have moved for summary judgment. DKts.

46-48, 512 For the reasons explained below, the Cguahts their motion, dkt. [46].

! The Court refers to Dr. Byrd and Nurse Hobson a$Neslical Defendant$ The Court refers to Sergeant
Lantrip, Correctional Officer Jeffery, and Sergeant Donaldson asSiate DefendantsThe clerk is
directed to update the Medical Defendamames on the docket to Dr. Samuel Byrd and Nurse Kimberly
Hobson.

2The State Defendants did not move for summary judgment.
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l. Summary Judgment Standard

A motion for summary judgment asks the Court to find that a trial is unnecessaryse
there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and, instead, the mevuitieild to judgment
as a matter of lanseefFed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). On summary judgment, a party must show the Court
what evidence it has that would convince a trier of fact to accept its version oktite.&ekas
v. Vasiliades814 F.3d 890, 896 (7th Cir. 2016). The moving party is entitled to summary judgment
if no reasonable fadtnder could return a verdict for the non-moving palglson v. Miller 570
F.3d 868, 875 (7th Cir. 2009brogaed on other grounds recognized by Jones v. Ca®éb
F.3d 1147, 1149-50 (7th Cir. 2019).

To survivea motion for summary judgment, the Amoving party must set forth specific,
admissible evidence showing that there is a material issue foilCelatex Corp. v. Catrettd77
U.S. 317, 324 (1986). An affidavit used as support must be made on persomiaidgs) set out
facts that would be admissible in evidence, and show that the affiant is contipeéstify on the
matters stated. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(4). Statements thatof#iide the affiard personal
knowledge or statements . are the restilof speculation or conjecture or [are] merely conclusory
do not meet this requiremehStagman v. Ryarl76 F.3d 986, 995 (7th Cir. 1999). Likewise,
unsworn statements do not meet the requirements of Ruke8&ollins v. Seemadt2 F.3d 757,
760 n.1(7th Cir. 2006).

The Court views the record in the light most favorable to the non-moving partyaamsl dr
all reasonable inferences in that parfiavor.Skiba v. Ill. Cent. R.R. Ca884 F.3d 708, 717 (7th
Cir. 2018). It cannot weigh evidence or makeddrgity determinations on summary judgment
because those tasks are left to the-fiacter. SeeMiller v. Gonzalez761 F.3d 822, 827 (7th Cir.

2014). The Court need only consider the cited materials, but it may consider other mattrels
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record. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(3). The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has repeasedgdahe
district courts that they are not required'saour every inch of the recdréor evidence that is
potentially relevant to the summary judgment motion before tlamt v. Trs of Ind. Univ, 870
F.3d 562, 572-73 (7th Cir. 2017).

A dispute about a material fact is genuine diifithe evidence is such that a reasonable
jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving pdrtfnderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inct77 U.S.
242,248 (1986). If no reasonable jury could find for the snooving party, then there is no
"genuine" disputeScott v. Harris 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2007). Not every factual dispute between
the parties will prevent summary judgment, and themoring party'mug do more than simply
show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the materidl Fatsushita Elec. Indus. Co.,
Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Corp475 U.S. 574, 586 (1986).

Finally, althougtpro sefilings are construed liberallpro selitigants such aMr. Knighten
are not exempt from procedural rul&ee Pearle Vision, Inc. v. Romsal F.3d 751, 758 (7th
Cir. 2008) (noting thatpro selitigants are not excused from compliance with procedural'fules
Members v. Paigel40 F.3d 699, 702 (7th Cir. 1998) (stating that procedural lalesly to
uncounseled litigants and must be enfotyed

Il Facts

The Medical Defendants filed a statement of material facts not in di§meskt. 47 at 2
12. In his response and surreply, Mr. Knighten identifies some tta&t he contends are disputed.
Seedkt. 55 at 212, dkt. 57 at 4. The Court accepts those facts as true to the extent they are
supported by admissible evidence in keeping with its duty to construe the redwdigit most

favorable to MrKnighten3

3 Mr. Knighteris response and surregsenot verified.Seedkts. 55, 57. Thus, the Court does not consider
statements made in thoslmcuments that are not supported by admisstidence (e.g. deposition

3
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A. Mr. Knighten 's Medical History

Mr. Knighten has hadizzy spellssnce approximately 2000. Dkt. 51 at1:2—7.In 2003

or 2004, while incarcerated at the Bartholomew County Jail, Mr. Knighten had a dizzyedpell, f
and broke his fingendd. at 416-10, 42:25-436. Jail officials sent him to have surgery on his
finger. Id. at 416-10. In 2006 and 2007, while incarcerated at the Indiana State PHSH)(
Mr. Knighten also had dizzy spells and associated falls. Dkt. 51. &t413 dkt. 551 at 4, 6, 7.
The dizzy spells were connected to migraine headaches. Dkt191:47-19 dkt. 551 at 6, 7.
A doctor at ISP tried to treat the problem by giving Mr. Knighten medicine for mégaaaljusting
his migraine medicine, and prescribing a muscle relaxer. Dkt. B11a2—-17.

In 2008 Mr. Knighten had surgery to remove canin his rectum; he also had radiation
and chemotherapy to treat the cancer. Dkt1 252 Dkt. 51 at 6413. His cancer was successfully
treated, but he was left with irritable bovegindrome, a condition that ikesit difficult for him
to control his bowels and cassshronic diarrhea. Dkt. 2% at 2 Dkt. 51 at 263-4. To control his
diarrhea, doctors gave him medications that chosestipation as a side effect. Dkt. 56at24—
63:21, 64:20-65.

In 2015 Mr. Knightenhad dilation surgery because he was suffering from anal sténosis.

Dkt. 51 at 648—19.Later that year, he was transferred to WVEF-at 66:5—6.

testimony).See Collins462 F.3d at 760 n.1. The Court also notes that much of Mr. Knightsponse
focuses on allegations of inadequate medical care by providers other thagrddan8 Nurse Hobson
(including complaints about his medical care at Pendleton Correctional Faeilige he came to WVCF
and at the Indiana State Prison after he left WV@EE, e.g.dkt. 55 at 3, 1612. In addition to being
unsworn, those allegatio@se not relevant because they are directed to providers who are not defendants
here. Finally, the Court notes that Mr. Knigh¢eresponse includes many statements thatdetendant
doctors allegedly made to hifgee, e.qgid. at 34 (recounting staterés from Dr. George), 9 (recounting
statements from doctor who performed CT scan). Even if these statements were swoonyttheodd
not consider them to the extent they are offered for the truth of the mattededdsecause they are
inadmissible heaay.SeeCarlisle v. Deere & Cq 576 F.3d 649, 65%6 (7th Cir. 2009) (court may not
consider inadmissible hearsay at summary judgment).

“Anal stenosis, also known as anal stricture, is the narrowing of the anal c3eal.
http://ddc.musc.edu/public/diseases/colestum/anaistenosis.htm(last visited Marctb, 2020).

4
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B. Dr. Byrd and Nurse Hobson

Dr. Byrd is a physician licensed to practice medicine in the State ainladDkt. 4& T 2.
He is employed by Wexford of Indiana, LLC, as a physician at W\CH] 3.

Nurse Hobson is a registered nurse licdneehe State of Indiana. Dkt. 4B 2. At all
times relevant to Mr. Knightemlawsuit, she has been employed by Wexford of Indiana, LLC, as
the Healthcare Services AdministratidSA") at WVCF.1d.{ 3.

As the HSANurse Hobsosrole ispurdy administrativeld. She orders medical supplies,
hires medical staff, maintains the nursing staff schedule, respondsateimgrievances about
medical issues, and deals with human resources issues for the medicédl.s&tfe does not
generally perform any nursing dutiedthough she sometimes §linas a nursavhen the facility
is shortstaffed.ld. When shedoes sp Nurse Hobson assesseatients takes their vital signs,
reports her findings to the provider (a physician, physEiassistant, or nurse practitioneefers
patients to the provider (if needed), and follows orders from providers gsuatiministering and
dispensing medications)d. She also enters provider orders into patiealesctronic medical
records.ld. She does not prescribe medications, omiagnostic testing, diagnose patients,
develop treatment plans, or dictate medical .dareNurse Hobson does not supervise providers
and cannot instruct them on how to evaluate or treat patieint§.4. She is not the nursing
supervisorld.

C. Medical Treatment at WVCF
In late November 2017, Mr. Knighten stood up from his bed, had a dizzy spell, passed out,

and hit his face on the concrete floor. Dkt. 51 afi7911:7 17:13-18,31: 15-16, 973-7.° He

®In his unsworn response, Mr. Knighten claims that he complained to Dr. Byrdhisdalthproblems

"for most of 2017 and that he tried to explain to Dr. Byrd that severe anal stenosis had caused similar
problems in the past, but Dr. Byrd disagreBiit. 55 at 4. Unsworn statements are not admissible at
summary judgmengee Collins462 F.3d at 760 n,and the Court does not credit these statements here.

5
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was hot able taonsult with gphysicianabout the ppblem until he saw Dr. Byrd on December 20,
2017.1d. at31:15-16, 98-9; Dkt. 251 at 2°

On that day, Dr. Byrd saw Mr. Knighten for a chronic care visit. Dkil 25 2, 811 At
that time, Mr. Knightels irritable bowel syndrome was fairly controlled with the medications
Pamelor and Calan (also known as Verapaaillat 2.Mr. Knighten was also prescribed Flomax
for urinary retention due to an enlarged prostateDr. Byrds treatment notes state tht.
Knightens anorectal stricture had been a problem in the past but was stable now and that Mr.
Knighten had noted improvement with Caldah. at 8. The treatment notes also state that Mr.
Knighten was'evaluated by Colorectal surgery group in Indianapgihce last visit and stenosis
not felt to be significant at this tifieand that"[a]t this point we are > 5 yrs since surgical
intervention and should simply repeat cascopy and CT scans on symptomatic vs. [every] 6mos
to yearly basis.1d.

At the Deember 2th appointmentMr. Knighten reported that he had fainted a couple
times over the last month, describing the problem as lightheadedneSpamsthg odit after
changing positions. Dkt. 2b at 2 9. Dr. Byrd viewed these symptoms as a classic presentation of
orthostatic hypotension, which is a form of low blood pressure that happens whsaoragtands
up after sitting or lying downd. at 2. Common signs of orthostatic hypotension are dizziness,
burry vision, weakness, fainting, confusion, ardiseald. There are many possible causes of
orthostatic hypotension, including dehydration, heart conditions, and certain nwediddti

Based on the diagnosis of orthostatic hypotension, Dr. Byrd ordered a chagt ah
electrocardiogram'ECG’), anda variety of blood testdd. The chest Xray was performed on

January 5, 2018 anglas normalld. at 2, 121 The ECG was performed on January 12, 20d.8.

6 Mr. Knighten does not blame Dr. Byrd for the delay between his fall and the Dec@k2p17,
appointment. Dkt. 51 at 989.
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at 122. It showed a prolonged QT interval, which is abnoridaht 2 A prolonged QT interval

can cause dizziness and fainting, and Pamelor and Flomax can cause a prolongec/&Tdnte
Blood for lab workwas drawn on January 17, 2018. at 17. The lab results were mostly
unremarkable, except for a high sed &atd a low hemoglobin readinigl. at 2. Dr. Byrd did not
believe that the abnormal labs likebxplainedMr. Knighters symptomsld. Because Mr.
Knighten did not have a history of a long QT or other arrythmias, Dr. Byrd decided to discontinue
the Pamelor and reduce his Flomax dose while monitoring the orthostatic sympdoat2-3.

While that testing was occurring, Mr. Knighten developed another problem. On or about
December29, 2017, Mr. Knighten found what he believed to be bugs or parasites on his body.
Dkt. 51 at 34:14-17%ee alsalkt. 25-1 at 13. According to Mr. Knighten, tatd a sergeantvho
in turn called &psych nurse doctband said that she should come tallivio Knighten because
the sergeant thought Mr. Knight wagoing crazy' Dkt. 51 at 21-23. The mental health care
worker talked to Mr. Knighten and sent him back to his tllat 23-25.

About a month later, Nurse Hobson and another female provider saw Mr. Knighten at the
infirmary. Id.at 66:18-67:22 Mr. Knighten does not know the name of the other provider but
believes she was a physician or nurse practitiddeat 67:2368:3.Mr. Knighten believes that
his sister talked to Nurse Hobson about his complaints that he had bugs on his skin, which led
Nurse Hobson to call him to the infirmaiy. at 68:2169:5.Mr. Knighten testified that ht&kept
trying to show them, and they kept back and shid, we doft want to see. Just take your shirt
off.™ Id. at 676-8." He took his shirt off, and then the female provider examined Mr. Knighten

while Nurse Hobson served as a withédsat 67:9-15, 68:14-17.The provider squeezed his back

"In hisunsworn summary judgment response, Mr. Knighten cléhatshe told Nurse Hobson and the other
provider that he did not know what was on his back and tried to show them what wasaoe hisd legs,
but they did not want to examine his face and legs. Dkt. 55 at 10. Unsworn statementsadneigsible

at sunmary judgmentsee Collins462 F.3d at 760 n,-and the Court does not credit these statements.

7
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and said that Mr. Knighten had blackhedds.at 67:9-12. Nurse Hobson did not examine Mr.
Knighten, but she did look at the discharge the female provider had squeezed fromigiite s

back and agreed that he had blackheladsit 74:16-75:13; Dkt. 251 { 6. At his deposition, Mr.
Knighten admitted that Nurd¢obson relied on the female providediagnosis. Dkt. 51 at 75:49

21. After the examinationNurse Hobson told Mr. Knighten to go back to his cell, although he
kept trying to explain that he did not have blackheads and asked how he could have blackheads
when the discharge on his skin was whieat 69:7-8, 75:10-13.

On February 7, 2018, Mr. Knighten saw Dr. Byrd agBikt. 25-1 at 19-22.Mr. Knighten
reported that he had had two fainting spells since the lastigidiir. Byrd noted that Pamelordha
been decreased over the last six weeks and would be stopped thét @asen that Dr. Byrd was
stopping Pamelor, Mr. Knighten asked to be prescribed Lomotil to control hisedizand noted
that Imodium had been ineffective in the p&stDr. Byrd asked him to try Bentyl and Imodium
in combination rather than Lomotld. They also discussed Mr. Knightemecent and abnormal
weight loss (40 pounds in eight monthig). Given Mr. Knighters history of cancer. Byrd
ordered a CT scan of the abdomen and pelvis with conlidaat19, 25.The treatment nosgor
the February 7 visit also suggest that Dr. Byrd added a prescription for Cleocin (also &now
Clindamycin, an antibiotic cream) on that date, although the treatment notes do natlgxpres
discuss any skin issudsl. at 21.In an affidavit, Dr. Byrd stated that he prescribed Cleocin for
Mr. Knighten's skin conditiorid. at 5.

On March 11, 2018, Mr. Knightaequestedhealth careld. at 32. He stated that he did not
have blackheads, but instead ladme kind of parasite worm thetausing [him] all the health
problems [he had] had in the past ye&t. Dr. Byrd saw Mr. Knighten again on March 1d. at

35-39.During the visit, Mr. Knighten reported that Bentyl did not add much torbarment
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regimen.d. at 35. He did, however, report improvement with Calan when he could get it, noting
that the pharmacy had had trouble filling the prescription in a timely fastdo®r. Byrds
treatment notes indicate that he planned to titrate Kightens Bentyl levels and that he
requested a renewal of Caldd. at 38.Dr. Byrd also noté that Mr. Knighten was scheduled for

a CT scanld. at 35.

During the March 1th appointmentMr. Knighten also complained about havifigtle
white bugs all over his bodyld. at 4, 36 He believed they were hookwornid. Hookworms are
parasitesld. at 4. They enter the body as larvae through hair follicles in the hands and feet, which
can case a significant inflammatory reaction on the skih.The larvae then travel to the heart
and eventually make their way to the gastrointestinal tract, where they devedopdint
hookworms and feedff the blood vessels in the intestines until they lieat 4-5. Hookworms
do not exit the body in adult forrtd. at 5.

Dr. Byrdexamined Mr. Knighten skin and found only closed comedones and excoriations
over various skin surfacédd. at 38. Dr. Byrd believed that what Mr. Knightémought were
"little white bugsand worms' was actually just dead skin in the form of blackheads that he could
squeeze out, not hookwormnig. at 5, 36.Dr. Byrd believed that, if Mr. Knighten really had a
hookworm infection, he likely would have presented with severe itching, blisters, amd a re
growing rash, not little white bumps that he could extract by squeezing theldkit 5.
Nonetheless, Dr. Byrd ordered a parasite and ova test of Mr. Kngkteal.ld. at 5, 28 During
the visit, Dr. Byrd apparently told Mr. Knighten hookworms are far too large to invade skigle
pores.ld. at 35. According to Mr. Knighten, Dr. Byrd also laughed at him and told him he had

been focked up too long,"was getting crazy,and did not'know what [he was] talking abolit.

8 Comedonesre small, flesttolored, white, or dark bumps that give skin a rough texture; they are caused
by acneSeenttps://www.mountsinai.org/healibrary/symptoms/comedonésist visted March 5, 2020).

9
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Dkt. 51 at 108.8—24 After the appointment, though, Dr. Byrd sent Mr. Knighten a note stating,
"I stand correctédbecaus€'[i]t appears larvae (not mature adult fofhrookworms) cause a
cutaneous infection prior to ultimately leading to an intestinal infettiokt. 51 at 108:25109:3;

Dkt. 551 at 21. He noted, though, thatsignificant inflammatory reaction would take plaaad

"you certainly dot appear to have a larvae infestationkt. 551 at 21.He wrote that he was
ordering stool testing for parasites and enclosed an article about hookWwbrat81—-26.

On March23, 2018, Mr. Knighten saw a nurse after asking Dr. Byrithange the little
blue pills that you got me taking for my diarrhdsecause€they make me use the toilet mdre.
Dkt. 251 at 40. Notes from the nurse visit state that the physician was cdraactehat Bentyl
was stopped and fiber added at the direction of the physidian.

On April 20, 2018, Mr. Knighten had a CT scan. Dkt:128t 120. The technician was
unable to use IV contrast, so the scan was performed with oral contrastionty Byrd followed
up with Mr. Knighten on April 25, 201&d. at 49. Dr. Byrd told Mr. Knighten that the results were
remarkable for a large amount of stool in the coldnat 3, 49Dr. Byrd's treatment notes reflect
that Mr. Knighten claimed thdhe exces stoolwould not have happened if Dr. Byrd had given
him Lomotil instead of Imodium and stated that he was having 20 bowel movemewgtddc at
49. The treatment notes reflect that Dr. Baskessed Mr. Knighten as havitifficulty passing
stool," dscontinued Imodiumand ordered lactuloseld. at 51.They also reflect that Dr. Byrd
ordered another CT scan with contrast to evaluate Mr. Knighteexplained weight loskl. Dr.

Byrd also ordered another stool sample because the previous stool studies he had ordered had not

been performed by the lalal.

°Lactulose is a synthetic sugar used to treat constipationSee
https://medlineplus.gov/druginfo/meds/a682338.Htadt visited March 20, 2020).

10
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Mr. Knighten had another CT scan on May 25, 20d8at 117.This time, the provider
was able to use IV contra#d. The report for the scan does not mention hookworms (or any other
kind of warm or parasite)ld. at 118-19.Dr. Byrd met with Mr. Knighten to discuss the scan on
May 30, 2018ld. at 3, 66.Dr. Byrd explained that the scan showed an increased colonic stool
volume;a mid abdominal segmental small bowel adynamic jlasnda nonsgcific presacral
soft tissue amormality, which suggested inflammatory or infeasochangeld. at 66, 118. Dr.
Byrd believed the amount of stool in Mr. Knighterolon was inconsistent with his complaints
of diarrhea, but Mr. Knighten believed it waschgse Dr. Byrd discontinued Pamelor and started
Bentyl and Imodiunt! Id. at 3, 66. Dr. Byrd explained that using medications that could slow
motility through the gut (like Pamelor, Lomotil, or Imodium) would be a bad ittkaMr.
Knighten reported good results from using probiotics in the past, so Dr. Byrd agreed to provide
them for him.d. Mr. Knighten also asked for an evaluation with a gastroenterologgstd on the
CT scan results, and Dr. Byrd agrektl.at 66.

During the May 30 appointment, Dr. Byrd and Mr. Knighten also discussed Mr. Knghten
dizziness and fainting spellsl. at 67. Mr. Knighten reported multiple episodes since the last visit.
Id. Dr. Byrd noted that Pamelor had been discontinued since their last visit twigésolution.d.

He also noted that blood work performed on May 3 showed that Mr. Knigigmoglobin levels
had improved and that his ESR had normalifmbdr. Byrd ordered another ECG and also ordered
orthostatic blood pressure measuremeatsDr. Byrd also deided to decrease Mr. Knighten

dose of Calan because it can cause orthostatic hypotension and contribute to gasibintest

91leus means lack of moveme®teeDkt. 251 at 3.

™ n his response and surreply, Mr. Knighten states that he told Dr. Byrd the CT soaes shtarge
amount of stool in the colon because he took extra Imodium before theiscamsattempt to induce
congipation so that he would not have to miss the scan appointments due to his recurted.disrsworn
statements are not admissible at summary judgreeatCollins 462 F.3d at 760 n.1, and the Court does
not credit these statements here.

11
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motility issuesld. at 3, 68. Dr. Byrdelievedthe risk ofincreasing symptoms associated with
Knightens irritable bowel sydrome was outweighed by the potential benefit of decreasing Mr.
Knightens dizziness and fainting spelld. at 3. Dr. Byrd also ordered compression stockings for
Mr. Knighten.Id. at 3, 68.According to Mr. Knighten, Dr. Byrd gave him the compression
stockings after he complained that his toes would tingle when he used the toilet, sayihgythat t
were for poor circulatiorDkt. 51 at 107.

Mr. Knighterls medical records show that Betamethasone cream was added as a
prescription around June 12, 20BeeDkt. 251 at 78 (Betamethasone first appearing on Mr.
Knightens medication lists)n anaffidavit, Dr. Byrd stated that he prescribed Betamethasone to
treat Mr. Knightets skin conditionld. at5.

Mr. Knighten had a repeat E0on June 15, 2018d. at 115. The results were norméd.
at 4, 115.A medical staff member also performed orthostatic blood pressure measurements
(measuring the blood pressure while lying down, sitting, and standing) on Judeat3.14. Dr.

Byrd found those results to be unremarkaluleat4, 114.

Mr. Knighten saw a gastroenterologist on June 20, 2018t 113. The gastroenterologist
recommended a colonoscop. at 4, 113.

Dr. Byrd saw Mr. Knighten on June 29, 2018 aold him that the gastroenterologist had
recommende a colonoscopyld. at 4, 94.Dr. Byrd wrote in his treatment natéhat he would
request a colonoscopll. at 96 During the visit, Dr. Byrd and Mr. Knightesdso discussed Mr.
Knightens weight loss, with Dr. Byrd noting that Mr. Knighten had gained five pounds in the last
month.ld. at 4, 94 Dr. Byrd also wrote in his treatment nsthat Mr. Knighters most recent CT
scan results suggested the probable recurrence of significant anorectal stenasid4.During

the visit,Mr. Knighten repeated his belief that he had a parasitic infection and hatetthe lab

12
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technicians kept processing his stool samples incorrédtigt 94.Dr. Byrdwrotein his reatment
noteshat he simply did not believe that Mr. Knighten had a parasitic infedtigmather seborrhea
of the face and significant production of skin adl. at 94.He noted thaMr. Knighteris skin had
improved significantly after he prescribBeétamethasone and Cleoclid. He also noted that Mr.
Knighten requested more Betamethasone because the tube Dr. Byrd prescrideshlgsteo
weeks Id.

During the June 29 visit, Mr. Knighten also reported that he had not fainted sinastthe |
visit but explained that he still had dizzy spells, during which he stopped what lioiwgsand
squatted down until the dizzy spell passed. Dkt. 3Da12-12. Dr. Byrd noted that Mr. Knightes
ECF and orthostatic vital signs were unremarkable. Dkl 2894. He opined that discontinuing
Pamelor and reducing the dose of Flomax and Calan seemed to have resolved#tatiorth
hypotension and fainting spells.. at 4, 94. Mr. Knighten requested an increase to his Calan dose
because Calan was helpful for drega.ld. at 94. Dr. Byrd cautioned him about the danger of
dizziness and fainting spells but agreed to increase the dose on the condition thatgkberkni
inform the medical departmenttiie dizziness and fainting recurréd.

Mr. Knighten had aolonoscopyon July 25, 2018d. at 108. The doctor could not use a
normal colonoscope because of anal stenlasiBistead, a pediatric colonoscope was insetted.
The doctor found anal stricture on digital rectal exam, but the exam was othemmsal.ld.
Based on theolonoscopyeport, Dr. Byrd planned to send Mé¢nightento a colorectal surgeon
to see if he was a candidate for anoplasty to release the stridtat 4.Mr. Knighten ultimately
underwent surgery to release the stricture in the fall of Z6d&kt. 51 at 95 (noting at November

5, 2018, deposition that rectum was dilated a few weeks ago).

13
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Dr. Byrd saw Mr. Knighten again at the chronic care clinic on June 12, 2019. Eki@at48
2. He had not reported a fainting episode in over a year, although he said he soffeditiizs/
and ha to sit down to wait for the episode to palsk.Dr. Byrd opined that such symptoms are
common in patients with tivostatic hypotensiorid. In his affidavit, Dr. Byrd stated that they
continue to work together to adjust Mr. Knightemedications to relieve his gastrointestinal
symptoms without causing further dizziness or faintilnly.He also stated that Mr. Knigén
reported that the corticosteroid he prescribed for Mr. Knightin rash hdprovided excellent
results.ld. He opined that there was no clinical indication that Mr. Knighten had hookworms or
another parasitdd. He stated that Mr. Knighténanal stricture is stable and that his weight has
increased and is stable.

Mr. Knightenadmits that the symptoms associated with what he believes to be a parasitic
infection had resolved by August or September 28&8dkt. 51 at 927-12 butdenies that Dr.
Byrd's prescribed treatmentsere helpful, see id.at 92:15-20. Instead, he attributes the
improvement in his condition to three factors: (1) washing his skin with an ointalead'cCare
All Muscle and Joint Vanishing Scent Gel Quick Réligfat he boght from the commissary; (2)
putting garlic powder on all his food because his cousin told him that garlic powder is a home
remedy for parasites; and (3) taking the liquid laxatives Dr. Byrd prescribexbrigtipation to
"clear [his] system odutld. at 521-23, 883-25.

As reflected in Dr. Byrg treatment notes, there were problems in the execution of his
orders for stool sampeAccording to Mr. Knighten, he provided a sample, but the lab would not
process it because Mr. Knightemame was not on the sample by the time it reached the lab. Dkt.
51 at70:7-21 Mr. Knighters sister called Nurse Hobson about the problem, and Nailsson

sent another nurse to collect another samgleat 70:2223, 71:16-14. Mr. Knighten provided
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another sample, but, this time, the sample could not be tested because the nurskeetad itol
failed to put it in the freezer after it was collectiedat 71:1-5. Mr. Knightenis sister called Nurse
Hobson again, and she again sent another nurse to collect a ddngil&1:16-14. That sample
also apparently was not tested, although the reason is not disclosed by theMeckirdghten
admits thaiNurse Hobson had no personal involvement in the apparent mishandling of his stool
samplesid. at 71:15-72:11.In an affidavit, Dr. Byrd stated that hookworms would have been
identified on the two CT scans and colonoscopy that Mr. Knighten had in 201&33kat 5.At
his deposition, Mr. Knighten testified that he asked the doctor who performed the colonoscopy
whether they were testing for parasites hadold him that the purpose of the colonoscopy was
only to check for cancer. Dkt. 51 at 94:15:0%

At his depositionMr. Knightenalsotestified that he kept telling Dr. Byrd to send him back
to the place he previously had dilation surgery because he was having the sanme. johte
91:9-14 He testified,'l kept trying to tell him about my medication, about going out to be dilated.
He didnt want to do it. | kept trying to tell him about . . . my problem with the diarrhea and all of
that. Instead of doing something about it, he cut the meds off, he discontinued theiometida
at 9110-16 He also complained that Dr. Byrd neventdaim to be treated for parasites or another
type of organismld.at 925-12. Finally, hetestified thathe told Dr. Byrd that he had dizziness
and fainting spells before he began taking Pamelor and Calan; that he told Dr. Byrd tedidgcr

Pamelor andCalan did not help with his dizziness; ahdt he thought Dr. Byrd was deliberately

21n his unsworn response brief, Mr. Knighten also claims that the@moatho performed his CT scans
also told him that they were testing only for cancer. Dkt. 55 at 9. Such unswamestég are rio
admissible at summary judgmesge Collins 462 F.3d at 760 n.1, and the Court does not credit them.
Regardless, these statements are also inadmissible hieatisayextent they are offered for the truth of the
matter asserte®ee Carlisle576 F.3d at 65%6.
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indifferent because he is still having dizzy spells but has not seen an outside doataham.
Id.at 91:19-92:4, 100:11-18, 102:2-10, 103:4-7.
1. Discussion

Mr. Knighten asserts Eighth Amendment medical care claims agdiasMedical
Defendants At all times relevant to Mr. Knightén claim, he was a convicted offender.
Accordingly, his treatment and the conditions of his confinement are evaluated amdbrdst
established by the Eighth Amendnismiroscription against the imposition of cruel and unusual
punishmentSeeHelling v. McKinney509 U.S. 25, 31 (1993)I{ is undisputed that the treatment
a prisoner receives in prison and the conditions under which he is confined are sulbjetiny s
under the Eighth Amendment.").

Pursuant to the Eighth Amendment, prison officials have a duty to provide humane
conditions of confinement, meaning, they must take reasonable measures to gubeasadety
of theinmates and ensure that they receive adequate food, clothing, shelter, and medical care
Farmer v. Brennan511 U.S. 825, 832 (1994). To prevail on an Eighth Amendment deliberate
indifference medical claim, a plaintiff must demonstrate two elementse($uffiered from an
objectively serious medical condition; and (2) the defendant knew about theffpéagatindition
and the substantial risk of harm it posed but disregarded thatdisit. 837;Pittman v. @y. of
Madison 746 F.3d 766, 775 (7th Cir. 28). 'To determine if the Eighth Amendment has been
violated in the prison medical context, [courts] perform a-$tap analysis, first examining
whether a plaintiff suffered from an objectively serious medical condition{hemddetermining
whether thendividual defendant was deliberately indifferent to that conditiBetties v. Carter

836 F.3d 722, 727-28 (7th Cir. 2016) (en banc).
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For purposes of summary judgmettie Medical Defendantdo not dispute that Mr.
Knighten suffered from serious medi@anditions under the Eighth Amendment; instead, they
argue that they were not deliberately indifferent to those conditsm®eslkt. 47 at 14—20.

"[Clonduct is'deliberately indiffereritwhen the official has acted in an intentional or
criminally recklesamannerj.e., the defendant must have known that the plaintiff was at serious
risk of being harmed [and] decided not to do anything to prevent that harm from occurring even
though he could have easily done"sBoard v. Farnham394 F.3d 469, 478 (7th Cir. 2005)
(internal quotation marks and quoted authority omitté)a risk from a particular course of
medical treatment (or lack thereof) is obvious enough, a factfinder earthiat a prison official
knew about it and disregarded iPetties 836 F.3d at 729. Buin cases where unnecessary risk
may be imperceptible to a lay person[,] a medical profes&amnehtment decision must be such
a substantial departure from accepted medical judgment, practice, or standardisnagrisirate
that the persoresponsible did not base the decision on such a judgnéntinternal quotation
marks and quoted authority omitted). In other woftdia] medical professional is entitled to
deference in treatment decisions unless no minimally competent profesgionla have
[recommended the same] under those circumstaregkes v. Fahim771 F.3d 403, 409 (7th Cir.
2014) (internal quotation marks and quoted authority omitt&i3agreement between a prisoner
and his doctor, or even between two medical professionals, about the proper coursmentrea
generally is insufficient, by itself, to establish an Eighth Amendment violatidn
A. Nurse Hobson

Mr. Knighten deliberate indifference claim against Nurse Hobaoses fromthe
examination that took place in approximately late January 296&8dkt. 55 at 10.But the

undisputed evidence shows that Nurse Hobson did not examine Mr. Knighten. Instead, after
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learning that Mr. Knighten was complaining about having bugs on his sken called Mr.
Knighten to the infirmary and served as a witness while another provider (who wablyp@ba
physician or nurse practitioner) examined him. That provider said that Mr. Knighten had
blackheads, and Nurse Hobson agreed after seeing thamjedhat the provider had removed
from Mr. Knighteris back.

This is not a case where the risk from Nurse Hoksacquiescence in the proviter
decision not to provide treatment is obvious to a layperson. Thus, Nabs®ns decisions are
entitled to agreat deal of deferenc8ee Petties836 F.3d at 72Pyles 771 F.3d at 409. Further,
there is no evidence that Nuitdebsonknew or even suspected that Mnightenwas suffering
from anything morélackheadsno evidence that she disregarded a riskesious harm to him;
and no evidence that her chosen course of actisking a provider to examine him and then
sending him away without immediate treatmewas a substantial departure from accepted
medical practiceThe fact that Mr. Knighten disagreed with the conclusion that he had blackheads
is not sufficienton its ownto support an Eighth Amendment deliberate indifference cl8me.
Pyles 771 F.3d at 409As such, Mr.Knighten'sdeliberate indifference claimasgainst Nurse
Hobsonfail.

At his demsition, Mr. Knighten also testified that he was suing Nurse Hobson because he
believed she was the nursing supervisor and, thus, responsible for the problems thestaédica
apparently experienced in collecting a usable stool sample from him. Dkt.7213at1, 76:9-

78:7. He does not renew that argument in his response brief but even if ihéad&because the
undisputed evidence shows that Nurse Hobson is not the nursing supervisor. And even if she were,
she ould not be held vicariously liableof the failings of her subordinateseePaine v. Cason

678 F.3d 500, 512 (7th Cir. 2012)nstead, she can only be held liable for her own actions.
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Here, the undisputed evidence shows that, whenever Mr. Knigbtster contaedNurse Hobson
about a failed stool sample, Nurse Hobson sent a staff member to collect another Saicipl
facts do not support a claim of deliberate indifference.

Accordingly, Nurse Hobson's motion for summary judgment is granted.
B. Dr. Byrd

1. Complaints of Parasitic Infection

Mr. Knighten contends that Dr. Byrd was deliberately indifferemtisgacomplaints that he
had a parasitic infectiobecause Dr. Byrd never treated him (or sent him out to be treated) for
parasites or any other type of organiddkt. 51 at 927-12 But thats not what the undisputed
evidence shows When Mr. Knighten complained about having bugs on his skin, Dr. Byrd
examined him and found only blackheads. Dr. Byrd did not believe that Mr. Knighten had a
parasitic infection becae such an infection would cause significant skin inflammation, not just
the white debris he was expressing from his pores. Dr. Bynétheless ordered stool samples so
thatMr. Knighten could be tested for parasites. The tests were never completea emidance
suggests that Dr. Byrd was responsible for that failure. Moreover, Mr. Knigittienately had
two CT scans and a colonoscopy, all of which Dr. Byrd believes would have shown hookworms
if they had been presetinally, the undisputed evidence shows that Mr. Kniglstskin condition
resolved after Dr. Byrd prescribed Cleocin and Betamethasone to treat blackheads.

On these facts, no reasonable jury could conclude that Dr. Byrd was delyorrdifferent
to Mr. Knighters complaints about hawgna parasitic infection. Instead, the facts show that Dr.
Byrd took the complaints seriously, investigated them, and ultimately concluded thatilyhtdf
had another condition (blackheads) and treated him for that condition. As with Nurse Hobson, this

is not a case where the risk of failing to treat for a parasitic infectiobvious; thus, Dr. Bytsl
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decisions are entitled to considerable defereBee. Petties836 F.3d at 72%®yles 771 F.3d at
409. Furtherthere is no evidence that Dr. Byrd knew Mr. Knighten had a parasitic infect&n; th
he disregarded a serious risk of harm to Mr. Knighten; or that his chosen cbtresgment was

a substantial departure from accepted medical practice. The factrthénilghten believes he had

a parasitic infection instead of blackheads is insufficient to supporighthEAmendment claim.
See Pyles771 F.3d at 409As such, Mr. Knighte®s claim that Dr. Byrd was deliberately
indifferent to his complaints about hagia parasitic infection fail.

Mr. Knightencontends that there is a genuine issue of material fact because he asked the
doctor who performed his colonoscopy whether they were testing for parasites dadttieold
him that the colonoscopy was intendedy to detect the recurrence of candgkt. 51 at 94:15
95:7;see alsalkt. 55 at 9Such inadmissible hearsay cannot be considered at summary judgment.
See Carlisle 576 F.3d at 655%6. Regardless, the fact that the doctor who performed the
colonoscopytold Mr. Knighten that he was being screened for cancer, not parasites, does not
undermine Dr. Byrd sworn stat@ents that he believed the colonoscopy (and the CT scans) would
have revealed the existence of parasites if they had existed.

Mr. Knighten aso disputes that Dr. Bysicourse of treatment was effective, claiming that
he treated himself by using @verthe-countergel on his skin, adding garlic powder to his food,
and using a liquid laxative to clear out his system. Dkt.-283188:3-25. Anydispute about the
reason for Mr. Knightea recovery is, however, immaterial becabde Knighten does not
designateadmissiblesvidence showinghat he told Dr. Byrd about his sdlélp remediesr other
evidence from which a jury could infer that Dr. Byrd knew his course of treatment was not
working. Instead, the undisputed record evidence shows that Mr. Knigleemdition improved

after Dr. Byrd prescribed Betamethasone, that Mr. Knighten asked Dr. Byrd for more
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Betamethason@ndthat Mr. Knighters condition had resolved by August or September 2008.
those facts, no reasonable jury could conclude that Dr. Byrd was deliberaiiéfigrémt tothe
possibility that Mr. Knighten had a parasitic infecti@wven if it believed that M Knighten had
cured himself.

Finally, Mr. Knighten complains that Dr. Byrd laughed at him and said he was goayg cra
because he had been locked up too long. Dkt. 55sdealsalkt. 51 at108:18-24 The Court
accepts, as it must, Mr. Knightsraccaint. While such a comment would be insensitine,
reasonable jury could inférom it that Dr. Byrd knew there was a substantial risk of harm to Mr.
Knighten and decided to do nothing abouée Townsend v. Coop&b9 F.3d 678, 690 (7th Cir.
2014) (concluding that docterremark that plaintiff was faking his symptoms did not support
conclusion that she was deliberately indiffereK@yraker v. Kankakee Cty. ShesffDeft, 65
F.3d 170(table),1995 WL 508075at *4 (7th Cir. 1995) (While relationsbetween the plaintiff
and [the nurse]may have been frosty (she evidently thought he was a chronic complainer; he
believed he was receiving inferior treatment), an inmate is not constitutionaflgdeto a warm
bedside mannéy).

Accordingly, Dr. Byrds motion for summary judgment as to Mr. Knighseziaim that he
was deliberately indifferent to Mr. Knightencomplaints about a possible parasitic infection is
granted.

2. Gastrointestinal Issues and Dizziness/Fainting Spells

Mr. Knighten also contends that Dr. Byrd was deliberately indifferent to his gasstiral

issues (diarrhea and weight loss) and his dizziness and fainting spells. Thear€aigrthese

conditions together becauBe. Byrds treatment of them was intelated.
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The undisputed evidence shows that Dr. Byrd first became aware of Mr. Krsgghten
dizziness and fainting spells in late December 2017. He thought Mr. Krigjkyenptoms were a
classic presentation of orthostatic hypotension and noted that Mr. Knighten wag sakie
medications that could cause orthostatic hypotension. He ordered a etsstax ECG, and
bloodwork to further investigate the problem. While the chestydvas normal, the ECG returned
findings consistent with orthostatic hypotension. Dr. Byrd then started adjtistimgedications
Mr. Knighten took to control his diarrhea because those medications are known to tteastatar
hypotensionThe adjustments were not always immediately successful, but Dr. Byrdweohtio
adjust Mr Knighteris medications, ordered a follemp ECG and bloodwork, and provided Mr.
Knighten with compression stockings. Eventually, they arrived at a point where Mr. Knigigen w
not fainting anymore (although he still felt dizzy sometimes)d his ECG, bloodwork, and
orthostatic vital signs were normal. Dr. Byrd believed that this improvementtisiasitable to
his reduction of Mr. Knightéa diarrhea medications. Although he recognized that reducing the
diarrhea medications could increase Mr. Kniglstdrarrhea, he thought that risk was outweighed
by the potential benefit of reducing Mr. Knighterdizziness and fainting spellafter Mr.
Knightens fainting spells had improved, Dr. Byrd also honored Mr. Knigbtemguest to increase
one of the medicains he took to control his diarrhea after warning him about the risk that the
dizziness and fainting could worsen.

In the meantime, he took steps to investigate and treat Mr. Kniglgastrointestinal
issues. He prescribed Bentyl and Imodium for diaingt discontinued the Bentyl and added fiber
after Mr. Knighten complained that Bentyl was making things worse. He alscedra CT scan
to investigate Mr. Knightéa weight loss. When the first CT scan was not entirely successful

(because the provider could not use IV contrast), he ordered another one. And, whilechtowaite
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the second scan, laetedon the findings from the first scan by taking stepkeip Mr. Knighten
pass stool more effectively. After the second CT scan, Dr. Byrd honored Mr.t&msgtequest
for a referral to a gastroenterologist and also gbire Knighten probiotics. When the
gastroenterologist recommended a colonoscopy, Dr. Byrd ordered it. And, when the colonoscopy
showed an anal stricture, Dr. Byrd sent Mr. Knighten to a surgeon to have the probletedorrec

On this record, no reasonable jury coultifthat Dr. Byrd was deliberately indifferent to
Mr. Knighteris conditions. Instead, the evidence shows that Dr. Byrd was trying to balance two
problems—Mr. Knighterls gastrointestinal conditions and the dizziness and fainting that he
believed were causday the medications used to control the gastrointestinal conditions. As with
Mr. Knighteris complaints about a parasitic infection, this is not a case where the risk from D
Byrd's course of treatment is obvious to a layperson. Thus, his decisions ted &mta great deal
of deferenceSee Pettigs336 F.3d at 72®Pyles 771 F.3d at 40% There is, however, no evidence
that Dr. Byrds chosen course of treatment represented a substantial departure from accepted
medical practice or that he knew aboull @isregarded a substantial risk of harm to Mr. Knighten.

Mr. Knighten contends that there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether his
symptoms were a classic presentation of orthostatic hypotension because kd suffarspells
before he evebegan taking the medications Dr. Byrd thought were responsible for the problem.

Dkt. 55 at 5 This amounts to a disagreement with Dr. Bymdiagnosis of the problem, which is

BIn his response, Mr. Knighten suggests that Dr. Byrd was not actually exercising hialjettjment,

but instead thalt]he outside Colorectal Surgeon, and CT scans and Colonoscopies was all something that
Dr. Byrd was forced to do, because Plaintiff had filed a Civil Complaint becausedrh8&d allowed the
Plaintiff to suffer for a long period of timeDkt. 55 at 1. Unsworn speculation of this kind is not admissible

at summary judgmengee Collins462 F.3d at 760 n.Btagman176 F.3dat 995.Moreover, the record

shows that Dr. Byrd ordered the CT scans, sent Mr. Knighten to the gastroenteroidgistided to order

the colonoscopy before the clerk screened Mr. Knightesrmmplaint on July 2, 2018, and before the clerk
issued a Notie of Lawsuit and Request of Waive Service of a Summons to Dr. Byrd on July 3S52@18.

dkts. 12, 13. There is no evidence that Dr. Byrd knew about the lawsuit before that date.
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not enough to sustain an Eighth Amendment deliberate indifference claim stisenevidence
that Dr. Byrds attempts to control what he believed to be orthostatic hypotension represented a
substantial departure from accepted medical stand&dsPyles, 771 F.3d at 40Fhere is no
such evidence here.

Mr. Knighten alsacomplaingthat Dr. Byrd never sent him to an outside dootoordered
an MRI to determine the cause of his dizziness and fainting dpktlss1 at91:19-21 dkt. 55 at
1. He notes that he told Dr. Byrd that he was still getting dizzy, even though he had foapd a w
to avoid passing out entirely. Dkt. 51 at 168:2. The Court understands this as an argument that
Dr. Byrd persisted with his course of treatment even though he knew it wiasiivef A physician
may violate the Eighth Amendment if he doggedly p&ssigth a course of treatment that he
knows to be ineffectiveSee, e.qg.Goodle v. Sood947 F.3d 1026, 10382 (7th Cir. 2020)
(reversing grant of summary judgment for physician who prescribed inmate meadfoatidmost
a year without any signs ahprovement before referring inmate to outside specialist and then
decided to return to the ineffective medication for at least two morghs@fter the specialist
referral had to be canceled rather than immediately sending the inmate to anedigsp
reasoning that the record supported a finding that the physician persistedhevitreffective
treatment knowing it was not workijjgcreeno v. Daley414 F.3d 645654-55(7th Cir. 2005)
(reversing grant of summary judgment foedical providersvherepossibility of an ulcer was
noted on the inmate chart bufprovidersfailed to test for that condition and instead doggedly
persisted with an obviously ineffective course of treatment for more tham eigleaut trying to
find out what was wrong before finally sending the inmate to a specialist, who found that the

inmate had an ulcer).
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Here, however, there is mesignateavidence from which a reasonable jury could infer
that Dr. Byrd doggedly persisted with a course of treatment even though he wasvineffective.
There isno evidence that Dr. Byrkinew or suspected that Mr. Knightemlizziness and fainting
were caused by something other than orthostatic hypotension from Mr. Kregatider
medications. And there is no evidence that Dr. Byrelwhis chosen treatment for Mr. Knighten
dizziness and fainting was ineffectidastead, the record shows that Mr. KnigreddbiCG results
returned to normal after treatment and thtiit Knighten stopped fainting (even if he still got
dizzy). This is alsonot a case where Dr. Byrd ignored Mr. Knighseongoing complaints about
dizziness. Rather, the record shows that he was trying to balance Mr. Kisigitemplaints of
dizziness against Mr. Knightsmeed (and requests for) for medications that coulskadiaziness.
These are medical judgmertksat do not violatehe ConstitutionSee Duckworth v. Ahma#32
F.3d 675, 682 (7th Cir. 2008) (affirming grant of summary judgment to physician who
hypothesized that inmate had urinary tract infection and tréatecccordingly, even though it
later turned out that inmate had cancer; distinguis@reenoand reasoning,The evidence here
indicates that . . .[the doctor] did not think [the innfsdteondition was anything more serious than
a urinary tract infectin. These are the kinds of medical assessments doctors can make without
running afoul of the Constitutiof).

Mr. Knighten also argues that Dr. Byrd was deliberately indifferent to his gasstiiai
conditions becausBr. Byrd would not listen to him about his need for medicine to control his
diarrhea and simply cut off the medications used to control his diarrhea th#me doing
something about the problem. Dkt. 51 ati2t16. It is true that Dr. Byrd reduced the medications
used to control Mr. Knigieris diarrhea. But no reasonable jury could infer deliberate indifference

from that fact. Viewed in context, the undisputed facts show that Dr. Byrd first cethee
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medicationaused to control diarrhdaecause he was trying to treat Mr. Knighgedizziness and
fainting spells and later continued on that course because he believed Mr. Knigigen w
constipated and needed help moving stool out of his gut. While Mr. Knighten may not have agreed
with that course of treatmemstich disagreement does not suppa Eighth Amendment claion

its own See Pyles/71 F.3d at 409.

In addition, Mr. Knighten contends that Dr. Byrd was deliberately indifferent to his
gastrointestinal conditions because"kept telling Dr. Byrd, send [him] back to the same place
[he] went [for dilation surgery] because [he was] having the same problenDr. Byrd"didn't
want to do it." Dkt. 51 at 91:10-12. The undisputed facts establish that Dr. Byrd did, in fact, send
Mr. Knighten to have dilation surgery, so the Court understands this as a complaint thadDr. B
pursued testing rather than immediately referring Mr. Knighten for surgery whekrigthten
suggested the posdiby. An inexplicable delay in responding to an innmtgerious medical
condition can reflect delibeie indifference, especially if the delay exacerbates the irsnate
medical condition or unnecessarily prolongs sufferidgodloe 947 F.3d at 1031Mr. Knighten
does not designate evidence showing when he asked Dr. Byrd to send him for dilation sargery
the record is insufficient to support a finding of inexplicable delay. Mrghteiris claim creates,
at best, a metaphysical doubt as to when Dr. Byrd knew he needed to refer Mr. Knighten for
dilation surgery which is insufficient to avoid summary judgnmeSeeMatsushita 475 U.S. at
586.

Moreover, no reasonable jury could infer deliberate indifferéeoausdr. Byrd failed
to immediately refer Mr. Knighten for dilation surgeAlthough the process took some time, the
delay was not inexplicable; insig, the undisputed facts show that Dr. Byrd was pursuing testing

to determine the best course of acti@omparewith Goodloe 947 F.3d at 103Zfinding
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inexplicable delay where physician failed to refer inmate to new spéeéalihree months after
original specialist appointment was cancelgthout explanatiomespite inmate filinggomplaint
two weeks after the original specialist appointment wasetedrAbsent some evidence that Dr.
Byrd's decision to pursue testing represented a substantial departure from acoegited m
standardr other evidence that Dr. Byrd was not actually exercising his medical judgment
medical decisions are entitléol deference and cannot support an Eighth Amendment dZdim.
Lloyd v. Moats 721 F. Ap{x 490, 494 (7th Cir. 2017)'[A] delay in ordering tests must be
evaluated in light of the entire record to determine if it evidences deliberate iexddéerThe
gusstion whether an Xay or additional diagnostic techniques or forms of treatment is indicated
is a classic example of a matter for medical judgment. A medical decision ndetcaao Xray,

or like measures does not represent cruel and unusual punish(rgatnal quotation marks,
guoted authority, and alteration omitted)).

Finally, Mr. Knighten contends that Dr. Byrd was deliberately indifferenaibs he
"shouldnt have been prescribing any kind of medication to [Mr. Knighten] until after December
15, 2018."Dkt. 55 at 16. In support, he relies on documents showing that Dr. Byrd voluntarily
surrendered the certificateneeded to prescribe controlled substances in Februarya@ilfhat
his medical license was placed on indefinite probation beginnidgnuary 2017 and continuing
until at least December 15, 2018eedkt. 5541 at 33, 3539 Assuming the authenticity and
admissibility of these documents, Mr. Knighttill has not created a genuine issue of material
fact because the documents show dhigt Dr. Byrd was on probation and that he could not
prescribed controlled substaneesot, as Mr. Knighten contends, that Dr. Byrd could not
prescribe any medication at air. Knightenalsodoes notlesignateevidence suggesting that Dr.

Byrd improperly prescribed controlled substances.
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Accordingly, Dr. Byrds motion for summary judgment as to Mr. Knighgeadaims of
deliberate indifference to his gastrointestinal conditions and his dizzamesgainting spells is
granted.

IV.  Conclusion

Theclerk is directedto update the names of the Medical Defendaaisies on the docket
to Dr. Samuel Byrd and Nurse Kimberly Hobson. Thezk is directedto update Mr. Knightea
address consistent with the distribution portion of this Entry.

For the reasanstated above, the Medical Defendamistion for summary judgmerdkt.
[46], is GRANTED. The claims against Dr. Byrd and Nurse Hobson dismissed with
prejudice. Consistent with this ruling, thderk shall terminate Dr. Byrd andNurseHobson as
defendants.

No partial final judgment shall issue at this time.

SO ORDERED.

Date: 7/20/2020

N Patrack \andove
James Patrick Hanlon

United States District Judge

Distribution: Southern District of Indiana
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